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ABSTRACT

The second phase of the Northborough Historical Commission’s inventory of historic
resources was undertaken in 2009 by the Public Archaeology Survey Team, Inc. of Storrs,
Connecticut. Fieldwork and photography occurred in February and March 2009, with form-
preparation carried out over the next few months. The first phase concentrated on propertiesin the
town center, particularly on Main Street, and pre-1860 properties townwide. This phase of the
survey provides comprehensive coveragefor the period from 1860 to about 1906. Inaddition, itfills
inanumber of pre-1860 propertiesthat werenot included in thefirst phase, and it includesanumber
of later 20th-century properties that were added at the request of the Northborough Historical
Commission.

A total of 98 buildings, 6 structures, and 5 areaswereidentified, resulting in the preparation
of 109 forms. Because four of the area forms included detailed information and photographs for
buildings for which individual forms were not prepared, a total of 133 unique individual street
addresseswereincluded in the survey. Inaddition to the paper versions of the formsand thisreport,
the survey productsinclude alarge-scale map of Northborough on which thelocations of inventoried
properties are plotted, and digital versions of the forms, photographs, map, and this report. Two
copies of the survey materials will be available in Northborough: a paper copy and an electronic
versioninthefiles of the Northborough Historical Commission, located in the Northborough Town
Hall at 63 Main Street, and a paper copy in the archives of the Northborough Historical Society, 50
Main Street.

The survey was performed in accordance with the standards in Historic Properties Survey
Manual:  Guidelines for the Identification of Historic and Archaeological Resources in
Massachusetts and in consultation with Peter Stott and Michael Steinitz of the Massachusetts
Historical Commission staff.

Thisreport contains a statement of survey objectives and methodology, a narrative history
identifying the relevant historic contextsfor evaluating Northbrough’ sresources, a bibliography of
sources used in preparing the forms, a street index to the forms, recommendations for National
Register of Historic Placesand Local Historic District/Property designations, and recommendations
for further study.
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I. INTRODUCTION

Thisreport presentsthe results of the second phase of inventorying Northborough’ shistoric
properties, a project being undertaken by the Northborough Historical Commission with the
assistance of the Massachusetts Historical Commission (MHC), astate agency. Thefirst phasewas
completed in 2008 by Boston Affiliates, Inc. and concentrated on properties in the town center,
particularly on Main Street, and pre-1860 propertiestownwide. This phase of the survey provides
comprehensive coverage for the period from 1860 to about 1906. In addition, it fillsin anumber of
pre-1860 properties that were not included in thefirst phase, and it includes anumber of later 20th-
century properties that were added at the request of the Northborough Historical Commission. A
total of 98 buildings, 6 structures, and 5 areas were identified, resulting in the preparation of 109
forms. Becausefour of the areaformsincluded detailed information and photographsfor buildings
for which individual formswere not prepared, atotal of 133 uniqueindividual street addresseswere
included in the survey (some properties had more than one street address). Theformswere printed
on heavyweight, acid-free paper and the photographs were prepared according to national archival
standards, helping to assure their long-term stability.

Theformat of thisreport, like other aspects of the survey, followsthe requirementsgivenin
the MHC' s Historic Properties Survey Manual: Guidelines for the Identification of Historic and
Archaeological Resources in Massachusetts. In addition to a statement explaining the survey
methodology, the report includes a brief narrative history that identifies key historic contexts for
understanding the inventoried properties, recommendations regarding which properties, in the
opinion of the consultants, meet the criteriafor listing on the National Register of Historic Places
and/or designation as local historic districts/properties, recommendations for further study; and a
detailed bibliography listing the sources of information used to preparethe survey forms. Anindex
to the inventoried properties, arranged by street address, appears as Appendix A. Other survey
products, in addition to this report and the inventory forms, include a 30-inch by 40-inch map of
Northborough on which the inventoried resources are located and aDV D-ROM containing digital
copiesof theforms, thistext, the street index, the survey map, and all the photographsthat appear on
the forms.

Two copies of the survey products were provided to the Northborough Historical
Commission and athird copy to the MHC. The purpose of the survey isto provide these agencies
with information to assist them with local and state planning activities. Theinformation from this
phase of the Northborough inventory will be included in the Massachusetts Cultural Resource
Information System (MACRIS), adigital database that will eventually make all of the information
available online.

The survey was undertaken by the Public Archaeology Survey Team, Inc. (PAST), a
nonprofit research and educational organization located in Storrs, Connecticut, that specializesinthe
history and archaeology of southern New England. Senior Historian Bruce Clouette, Ph.D. was
responsible for the greater part of the survey, with assistance from Ross K. Harper with the
fieldwork and photography. Staff members Robyn Beausoleil and James Poetzinger helped with
form preparation, copying, and other logistical matters. PAST Director Mary K. Harper was
responsible for the administrative aspects of the contract; she also read all the draft forms and text,
resulting in numerous corrections and other useful revisions.



Two copies of the survey materialswill be availablein Northborough: apaper copy and an
electronic version in the files of the Northborough Historical Commission, located in the
Northborough Town Hall at 63 Main Street, and a second paper copy in the archives of the
Northborough Historical Society, 50 Main Street.



Il. SURVEY METHODOLOGY

The methodology employed for the Phase Il of the Northborough survey followed the
requirements given in the MHC's Historic Properties Survey Manual: Guidelines for the
Identification of Historic and Archaeological Resources in Massachusetts. The purpose of the Phase
I, as specified by the Northborough Historical Commission, was to “continue a comprehensive
inventory of Northborough’s historic resources with the goal of having the majority of properties
100 yearsor older documented upon compl etion of the project.” Phase | concentrated on properties
that dated from ca. 1860 or earlier; this phase focused on the second half of the 19" century and the
early years of the 20" century.

The Phase |1 survey began with alist of 225 pre-1906 properties generated from thetown’s
assessor records*. The list was pared down somewhat by eliminating duplicate addresses and
properties that were inventoried in the first phase, and it was augmented by adding in three
properties that appeared in the MHC's MACRIS database but for one reason or another did not
appear in the list generated by the assessor records. Two publicly owned 20™-century buildings, as
well as an outstanding private residence from the 1950s, were also included because of local
priorities.

In order to target the survey effort on the most important of these properties, criteriawere
developed to choose the properties for which inventory forms would be prepared. In consultation
with the Northborough Historica Commission, the following prioritization was devel oped:

1. Buildingsthat appear to be National Register-eligible, either individually or as part of
eligible districts.

Buildings that appear to contribute to potential Local Historic Districts.

Buildings aready included in the MHC MACRIS database (within the period defined
for this project). With few exceptions, the existing MHC forms, most prepared in the
1970s, provide only aminimum of historical information.

4. Buildings with special local historical associations, particularly buildings that are
associated with agriculture and thetown’ sindustrial heritage, two themesthat appear to
have dwindling numbers of associated historic resources.

5. Buildings that have moderate to good integrity (relatively few alterations from their
historic appearance.

The properties were given a preliminary grade of A, B, or C based upon descriptive and
photographic documentation in the assessor records, with thegoal of having al thefirst and second-
priority properties (the Asand Bs) recorded with inventory forms. The propertieswere then checked
inthefield to assurethat the assigned grades were appropriate. Field-checking identified anumber

* Normally, the date field in assessor records is not considered a reliable means of forming a preliminary
study list. Inthe case of Northborough, however, it isapparent that at some point aknowledgeabl e person or
persons contributed to or checked thisinformation. Many of the assessor dates are specific—1866, 1883—
indicating that they were not simply assigned generic dates by aninspector untrained in historic architecture.
Most other dates—1860, 1875, 1890—appear to be reasonabl e estimates based upon physical form or stylistic
details, even though they are round numbers.



of addressesfor which apparent historic buildings had been replaced by modern construction. Also,
afew historic buildingsthat were thought to retain substantial architectural detail werefound to have
been modernized to the point of a complete loss of integrity, and so were excluded from further
consideration. A final result of the field-checking wastheinclusion of four additional structuresand
one building that had not been previously identified.

Inventory formswere then prepared for the priority properties, primarily using theindividual
building form (Form B). The propertieswereinspected inthefield, and detailed notesweretakenin
order to prepare the architectural description portion of theform. Dimensional datawastaken from
the measured outline plans in the assessor database. At least two photographs were taken so asto
show all elevations, as well as additional photographs of important details. The historical
backgrounds of the properties were researched using a series of 19™-century and early 20™-century
maps of Northborough, censusreturns and other biographical sourcesthat yielded information about
the buildings and their early occupants, and the archives of the Northborough Historical Society* .
Compiling a chain of title was beyond the scope of the survey for most properties, but ownership
information about many houses built around the turn of the century could only be compiled from
research at the Worcester County Registry of Deeds. The sources of information are noted in the
Bibliography section of the form and in Section VI of this report.

Areaforms (Form A) were prepared for five groupings of buildings, including a potential
historic district. Three of the areas were groups of mill-related houses. Because of their similarity,
and because all the houses were described in detail on the areaform, along with a photograph, no
individual building forms were prepared for the mill-related houses. The same reasoning was
applied to the River Street Neighborhood, an areaof similar late 19" and early 20™-century houses
that werebuilt asrental propertiestargeting theindustrial working class. Individual building forms
wereincluded for most of the housesin the proposed historic district, sincethe houses’ architectural
detailsand their specific historical associationswereall different. Regardlessof whether individual
forms were prepared, al historic buildings within inventoried areas were assigned an inventory
number.

Structure forms (Form F and Form F - Bridge) were prepared for six structures. The
inventory and evaluation of archaeological sites was beyond the scope of this survey. However, a
number of building forms do include information on industrial-archaeol ogy features such as dams,
sluices, and mill ponds.

Four addresses on the list had forms that had been recently prepared by members of the
Northborough Historical Society. Theformswere edited and formatted so asto be compatiblewith
the other Phase 11 inventory forms, and additional material uncovered in the course of research was
included on a continuation sheet. The four properties were also photographed and mapped in
accordance with the rest of the properties.

As noted in the acknowl edgements, the sketch maps on the forms were prepared using data
fromthe Town’ s Geographical Information System (GIS) , to which were added anorth arrow, street

* The files of the Society were checked for al properties on the list regardless of priority. Asaresult, two
properties that were owned by important Northborough shoemakers were moved up in priority, despite the
extent of modern alterations.



names, historic name (if any), address, and inventory number. The overall survey map was created
using thefollowing layersfrom the Town’ sstreet map: streets, street names, parcel boundaries, and
building outlines. For readability of theinventory numbers, the survey map was printed asa 30" -by-
40" paper copy; a Portable Document Format (.pdf) version was included with the survey’s other
digital materials.

A note about the historic names used on the inventory forms. in general, the forms follow
the longstanding practice of identifying ahouse by the name of the male head of household (unlessit
was owned by a widow or other single woman). This was the way that houses were usually
identified in the historic period, in early histories of Northborough, and in contemporary
biographical sources. This convention also avoided the difficulties presented by the situation of
multiple successive wives, which, while not common, was much more frequent than in modern times
because of the dangers of childbirth. In those cases in which it could be determined that wives
owned the property, either as ajoint owners or in their own names, the name of the wife was of
course included in the historic name, as it was in cases in which the wife, in addition to all her
family duties, played a public role in the life of the community. In most cases, the historic name
reflects the original owner of the house, but in a few cases in which the house was first built by
someone el se and then became the longtime residence of an individual, thelatter’ snameisgiven as
the historic name. Inafew cases, early successive ownersresult in ahyphenated historic name, and
in cases of multiple successive owners from the same family, just the family name is used as the
historic identifier.

Asapartia antidote to the gender bias of this approach, the formsreflect aconcerted effort
to identify as many family members as possible, including (when known) the wife' s family name.
Historians have shown that the family economy in this period was usually a combined effort with
contributions from the husband, wife, and, often, adult children living at home. Non-family
members are also identified when known. In the period represented by this survey, boarders were
common in households from all social classes; the care and feeding of boardersfell upon the wife
and, particularly in working-class households, was a major source of cash income. Finaly, the
forms attempt to recogni ze the contributions of live-in servants and farm hands, citing them by name
whenever possible.

For the vast mgjority of the properties, a historic name reflecting its origina or early
ownership wasassigned. Some properties, especially those built asrentals, could not be associated
with particular residents, so the historic name field was left blank.






I11. NARRATIVE HISTORY

Northborough isatown of 18.8 square milesin Worcester County, M assachusetts, situated
about 8 miles east of Worcester and 35 mileswest of Boston; the popul ation at the last census (2000)
was 14,013. Although some settlement occurred in thelate 17 century, English occupation of what
would become the town of Northborough principally occurred in the early 18" century, after
hostilities with Native Americans had ended. A Congregational society was established in 1744,
giving it a separate identity, but until 1766 Northborough remained a part of the adjacent town of
Westborough. Throughout much of its history, the economic base of Northborough has been
agriculture. After 1800, some “ cottage industries” developed into factory-based production, most
notably the making of shoes and combs, and along the Assabet River there were afew small-scale
woolen mills. The center of Northborough developed as an institutional focus for the town, along
with a small commercia district, a settlement pattern further encouraged by the completion of a
railroad to Northborough in 1856. During the second half of the 19" century and the early 20"
century, Northborough experienced both a population increase and an increase in ethnic and
religiousdiversity, and relatively densely built residential nelghborhoods, some with concentrations
of particular ethnic groups, clustered around the town center. Asthe woolen mills prospered, the
stock of company-built housing increased, creating small mill villages at Woodside and Chapinville.
In this period, Northborough devel oped some of the institutions characteristic of larger towns and
small cities. consolidated schools, ahigh school, apubliclibrary, and fireand police services. After
World War 11, suburban-type residential development began to alter Northborough’ s predominantly
rural character, but even today Northborough retains much of its small-town feel.

Reading in general works on Northborough history, as well as the site-specific research
undertaken to compl ete the forms, identified a number of historic themes or contexts:

Agriculture. Agricultureformed the basisof Northborough’seconomy and socia structure
from the inception of English settlement until the second half of the last century. A
settlement pattern of widely dispersed family farms characterized the 18" and early 19™
centuries and is still evident today in the old houses and barns that appear scattered among
modern residential development. The agricultural economy also gaveriseto theinstitution
of the one-room district schoolhouse: acentralized system of education was not appropriate
for acommunity in which people lived long distances from the town center.

Agriculturein Northborough evolved over time, particularly in the period (ca. 1860 —
1906) covered by Phase Il of the survey. The generalized, near-subsistence agriculture
practiced in the colonial and early national eraswas supplemented in the second half of the
19™ century by market-oriented production. With railroad connections to Boston and
beyond, Northborough farmerswere able to produce dairy and orchard productsfor sale, as
well as eggs and tomatoes, asparagus, celery, and other vegetables. Some Northborough
farmers supplemented their income by renting out teams of horses and equipment for
reservoir construction, and others benefited from selling their timber for use asties by the
railroad and trolley line.

The survey identified scores of houses associated with farming families, aswell asa
number of properties that retain sizeable barns: 363 Crawford Street (NBO.242), 110
Howard Street (NBO.250), 87 Pleasant Street (NBO.289), and 536 West Main Street



(NBO.326). The building at 10 Blake Street (NBO.235) recalls the increasingly market-
oriented activities of Northborough’s farmers: it appears to be a substantially modernized
incarnation of the Northborough facility of Deerfoot Creamery, amajor supplier of milk and
other dairy products to the greater Boston region.

Industry. Like most Massachusettstowns, Northborough devel oped an industrial sector in
the 19™ century. However, the waterpower available from the Assabet River and other
Northborough streams, while useful for the gristmills, sawmills, and fulling worksthat were
part of the agrarian economy, was inadequate for large-scale manufacturing, and so most
industries remained small, with relatively few employees and modest production.
Valentine’ s 1830 map of Northborough identified 14 buildings as shops or factories, besides
textile mills.

The production of textiles in Northborough was centered at two locations that
eventually became known as Woodside and Chapinville. The Northborough Cotton
Manufacturing Company, chartered in 1814, began both cotton and woolen manufacturing at
a site on the Assabet River that had earlier been exploited for a gristmill. The company
remained in operation for 20 years and then went through repeated changesin ownership; the
mill itself burned in 1860. In 1866, David F. Wood bought the property and erected a
woolen mill on the site of the old cotton mill. He successfully manufactured woolens until
hisdeath in 1900, and his company gave the name “Woodside” to thevicinity. Later textile
manufacturers at the siteinclude the Woodsi de Woolen Company, the Taylor Manufacturing
Company, the Chilton Company, and the Northborough Textile Fibre Company. The mill
complex, dating from 1888, survives (200 Hudson Street, NBO.266), as do a number of
associated areas of mill-owned houses (NBO.N, NBO.O, and NBO.P).

Another former gristmill site was developed for textile manufacturing by Phineas,
Joseph and | saac Davis 2™, beginning in 1832. The Davis brothers built abrick cotton mill
and three brick worker tenements, hauling cotton to the site from Boston by ox teams. From
1859 to 1864 the mill wasrun by L. S. Pratt of Grafton, and then by Caleb T. Chapin, who
gave the name Chapinvilleto the area. When the cotton mill burned down in 1869, Chapin
replaced it with amuch larger brick woolen mill. The mill was operated by EzraChapin, the
son of Caleb T. Chapin, and then by the Northborough Woolen Mills. In addition to the
three brick former tenements inventoried in the first phase, surviving resources formerly
associated with the Chapinville mill include the 1882 office (7 Chapin Court, NBO.52) and
the former company store and post office (317 Hudson Street, NBO.41).

In addition to these small textile operations, Northborough residents created many
different manufacturing enterprises, at onetime or another producing shoes, combs, jewelry,
piano keys (the sharps and flats), furniture, carriages, spokes, leather products, baked goods,
creamery products, ice, bricks, firearms, dyes and other chemicals, drop forgings, cash
registers, movie projectors, and camera equipment. Indeed, the sheer variety of
Northborough products is one of the chief defining characteristics of the town’sindustrial
history. Of these, perhaps the most distinctive was the town’s involvement with comb-
making, which began in 1839 with the Bush and Haynes shop on Whitney Street, with power
supplied by Howard Brook. Soon other comb-makers set up shop wherever space and power



for machinery was available; the business directory accompanying the 1857 map of
Northborough listed five separate comb-making enterprises. The combswere chiefly made
from horn and hooves that were byproducts of local saughterhouses, with some
manufacturers also turning the material into buttons. The largest-scale comb-making
enterprise was the Walter M. Farwell factory on Hudson Street south of River Street
(NBO.255), whichissaid to have employed as many people asever worked in comb-making
in Northborough before. In addition to horn, some of which was imported from South
America, the Farwell plant made combs out of celluloid, an early plastic. Inthe 1920s, the
plant was converted to textile production by Whitaker & Bacon of Boston, which operated it
as the Arlington Shoddy Mill.

The survey documented two former shop buildings, the“Old Barn Shop’ (11 Blake
Street, NBO.236), where combs, jewelry, shoes, corsets, and buttons are all known to have
been made at one time or another, and the former E. H. Smith bone and gristmill (88 Main
Street, NBO.95). Northborough’'s small-shop industrial history is also recalled by the ca.
1860 stone dam on the Assabet River just south of Main Street (NBO.906) and by the
numerous houses associated with the shops owners. for example, 47, 55, and 110 Hudson
Street and 130 and 140 Main Street (NBO.110, 254, 259, 276, and 277). The survey
included dozens of houses associated with individual sawmill operators, comb-makers, and
other factory workers. The River Street Neighborhood (NBO.Q) was developed in the late
19™-century predominantly as rental properties targeting the industrial working class.

Commerce. Although most residentsin the period pursued agriculture asthe chief source of
their livelihood, Northborough devel oped asmall commercial center at the junction of Main
Street, West Main Street, and Church Street. Asearly as 1830, there were two taverns and
three stores along what is now modern-day Route 20, and by 1873 the village center could
boast of several general stores, abank, aninsurance agency, asaloon, ameat market, acigar
shop, ashoe store, ahotel, two livery stables, and atin shop. Later commercial enterprises
include a Chinese laundry, millinery shops, ajewelry store, a hardware store, pharmacies,
and abicycle shop. Several historic resources associated with the town center’scommercial
life were inventoried in the first phase of the survey. Additional resources from this phase
includeaformer genera store and bakery (19 Blake Street, NBO.237), theformer Northboro
Hardware store (17 South Street, NBO.312), and the homes of numerous livery operators,
store owners, and bank employees whose livelihoods were derived from Northborough’s
commercia prosperity.

Transportation. Transportation improvements have played asteady rolein sustaining the
life of Northborough. Although only present-day Route 9 in the southwest corner of
Northborough was part of the early 19™-century turnpike system, the road represented by
Route 20 and East Main Street was animportant road in the colonial period and it remained a
busy road throughout the 19™ century and even down to the present; the taverns, shops, and
stores shown on Valentine' s 1830 map can be attributed in part to business generated by the
road. Intherailroad era, Northborough wasinitially passed by in the construction of thefirst
railroad between Boston, Worcester, and points west, as was Framingham Center. But in
1849 the Boston and Worcester Railroad constructed a spur to Framingham Center, and the
Agricultural Branch Railroad extended it further westward, completing it to Northboroughin



December 1856. When this line was further extended to Pratt's Junction in 1866,
Northborough shippers and travelers had not only a direct route to Boston, but aso
connectionsto Fitchburg and Worcester. Theline becamethe Boston, Clinton and Fitchburg
Railroad in 1869 and, following additional mergers, was renamed the Boston, Clinton,
Fitchburg and New Bedford Railroad in 1876. In 1879, it became part of the Old Colony
Railroad’ s system, which in turn was absorbed by the New Y ork, New Haven and Hartford
Railroad in 1893.

In addition to economically sustaining Northborough farmers and merchants, the
railroad altered the geography of the center of the village, where it built a passenger depot,
freight station, and engine house. Businesses, especially those dealing in bulk products such
aslumber, coal, creamery products, and grain, gravitated toward the freight station area, and
businesses that catered to travelers, such as a barber shop, livery stables, restaurants, and a
pool hall, werelocated across Main Street from the passenger depot. Today, theimportance
of the railroad in Northborough's history is memorialized by two 19™-century stone-arch
bridges (NB0O.923 and 924) and a crossing shanty relocated as an outbuilding at 44 School
Street (NBO.307).

Northborough was aso served by an electric railroad. The Worcester and
Marlborough Street Railway was chartered in April 1897 and began operating inthe middle
of August. Thelineconnected with another street railway in Framingham, thereby allowing
oneto travel between Boston and Worcester entirely on the electric cars; in Northborough,
thelinefollowed Main Street, where there was a small passenger station opposite the steam
railroad’ sdepot. The steam-powered el ectric generating plant (inventoried in thefirst phase)
and a car barn were located on Hudson Street in Northborough, and there was another large
car barn and office on South Street. Later known as the Worcester Consolidated Street
Railway, the line continued in operation through the 1920s. In addition to carrying
passengers, street railways of the period usually offered limited freight and express service,
which appears to have benefited many Northborough farmers.

Military Service. During the period represented by this phase of the survey, Northborough
experienced the momentous effects of the Civil War. Out of a population of 1,500,
Northborough furnished 143 soldiers for the Union Army. Twice as many Northborough
men died in the Civil War asin all subsequent wars combined, and for many of those who
survived, their service remained an important part of their identity. Northborough had a
G.A.R. hall on Main Street until 1922, when it was destroyed by fire. Phasel of the survey
inventoried the Northborough Soldier's Monument, the town’s chief historic resource
associated with the Civil War, but many of the housesin town also have an association with
men who served, and their service is noted on the forms. Another aspect of thistheme was
the home-front effort during World War One. The forms note the many contributions of
Northborough residents to Liberty Loan and other war-related activities

Ethnic Diversity. Like much of New England, Northborough became more ethnically
diverse during the period covered in Phase Il of the survey. The town remained
predominantly “Yankee” and Protestant, but after mid-century the population began to
include people of immigrant heritage as well: Irish-Americans who came to work on the
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raillroads, French-Canadians associated with the woolen mills, and people from maritime
Canada, such as camera-innovator Thomas H. Blair. Around 1900, additional immigrant
families from Eastern Europe, Italy, and Armenia added to Northborough’s cultural mix.
While there are no historic resources associated with specific ethnic identities (the present
Roman Catholic Church is a modern building), the owners or occupants of many of the
housesincluded in the survey reflect the range of Northborough’ sethnic origins. The houses
al so document the economic success of someindividuals of immigrant heritage, such asthe
home of Irishimmigrant and plumbing-supply merchant Thomas Brennan (50 School Street,
NBO.309). Northborough did not have ethnic neighborhoods as clearly defined asthosein
the cities, but small concentrations of particular ethnic groups could be found, such aslrish
homeowners on Pleasant Street, French-Canadiansin the houses nearby themills, and people
from maritime Canada on East Main Street.

Education. Northborough’s remaining one-room district schools and the brick Center
School on School Street wereinventoried inthefirst phase. Thisphase continuesthe history
of the community’s efforts to provide its children with appropriate settings for education
withitsinclusion of the Northborough High School (63 Main Street, NBO.97), builtin 1939
asacompletely modern facility with large, bright classrooms, laboratories, alibrary, and an
auditorium/gymnasium.

Community Planning and Development. In the early 20" century, Northborough
developed some of the institutions characteristic of larger towns and citiesin order to meet
the needs of its growing population. In addition to the public library inventoried in thefirst
phase, thisthemeisembodied inthe building at 11-13 Church Street (NBO.64), builtin 1926
to house the town’ s fire department and police services.

Architecture. Inaddition to their historical associations, many if not most of the resources
included in this phase of the survey also are notable as examples of particular styles of
architecture popular in the period. Because Northborough was predominantly a rural
community, dwellings are mostly modest, vernacular interpretations of popular styles, rather
than extravagantly detailed high-style examples. Greek Revival-style houses have pilastered
cornersand pilaster-and-lintel entries, rather than full porticos, and Victorian housestend to
be eclectic, with brackets, window trim, porch-post turnings, and gable-peak ornaments
freely drawn from avariety of moreformal styles. Still, Boston and Worcester were not far
away, so there are afew surprises, such as the extraordinary portico of the Greek Revival
Wilder Bush House (27-29 Whitney Street, NBO.80); some well-preserved, densely-
bracketed Italianate houses (31 Pleasant Street, NBO.286, and 220 Whitney Street,
NBO.327); and small 1 ¥2-story houses that incorporate the distinctive Mansard roof of the
Second Empire style (234 Whitney Street, NBO.328). Three of the Victorian houses
inventoried in this phase have exceptional Queen Anne-style detailing; all were associated
with the former Daniel Wesson estate known as “The Cliffs’ (NBO.278, 279, and 280).
Twentieth-century architectureisrepresented in Northborough by the Art-Deco detailing on
the former Northborough High School (63 Main Street, NBO.97) and by the Vera Green
House (333 Howard Street, NBO.251), an outstanding example of the influence of Frank
Lloyd Wright's “organic architecture” in the post-World War Il era.
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Two notabl e aspects of Northborough history are associated with activitieswhose main focus
was outside thetown’ sborders: the creation of reservoirs and agqueductsfor the Boston metropolitan
water system, and the establishment of the Westborough State Hospital, the grounds of which
extended into Northborough. Because both are represented by existing National Register of Historic
Placeslistings (Wachusett Aqueduct Linear District, Water Supply System of Metropolitan Boston
Multiple Property Submission, 1990; Westborough State Hospital, M assachusetts State Hospitals
and State Schools Multiple Property Submission, 1994), no additional resources associated with
these two historical developments were included in this phase of the survey.

Although the main purpose of the survey was to identify the properties’ associations with
important Northborough historical themes, the forms also endeavor to include “local color”
whenever known. Examples include the barn located near the field where the “Northborough
Mastodon” was discovered in 1884 (536 West Main Street, NBO.326), the gym where numerous
notable early 20™-century boxers trained (11 Blake Street, NBO 236), and the home of
blacksmith/homing pigeon-breeder George Burgoyne (157 South Street, NBO.317).
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IV. NATIONAL REGISTER AND LOCAL-DISTRICT RECOMMENDATIONS

One purpose of asurvey such asthisistoidentify propertiesthat meet the National Register
of Historic Places criteria of significance. Historic-preservation statutes and regulations require
federally funded projects to assess their effects on properties that are eligible for listing on the
National Register and to mitigate adverse effectswhenever possible. Similar provisionson the state
level provide for consideration of the effects of state-funded activities on eligible properties.
National Register listing isalso aprerequisitefor certain tax-incentive programs. Finally, National
Register listing isan honor that recognizes both the property itself and the community’ scommitment
to identifying and preserving its significant historic resources.

The National Register eligibility criteria, which are intended to identify propertiesthat are
significant on the national, state or local level, state the following:

The quality of significance in American history, architecture, archeology,
engineering, and culture is present in districts, sites, buildings, structures, and
objects that possess integrity of location, design, setting, materials, workmanship,
feeling, and association, and:

A. That are associated with events that have made a significant contribution to
the broad patterns of our history; or

B. That are associated with the lives of significant persons in our past; or

C. That embody the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of
construction, or that represent the work of a master, or that possess high artistic
values, or that represent a significant and distinguishable entity whose
components may lack individual distinction; or

D. That have yielded or may be likely to yield, information important in history
or prehistory.

In addition to the criteriafor significance, National Register eligibility requiresthat aproperty have
integrity. Integrity is defined as the ability of a property to convey its significance. A National
Register-eligible property will retain most, if not all, of the seven aspects of integrity: location,
design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and association.

The historic contexts developed for this survey identified anumber of areas of significance
that qualify propertiesin Northborough under National Register Criteria A or C (or both):

Agriculture

Industry

Commerce

Transportation

Military Service

Ethnic Diversity

Education

Community Development and Planning
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e Architecture

Criterion B, significant persons, isused much less often than CriteriaA or C, in part because we now
recognizethat our history istheresult of the efforts and aspirations of large numbers of people, both
well-known and virtually anonymous, rather than a few individuals of transcendent importance.
Criterion D ismost often used in eval uating archaeol ogical resources, which are outside the scope of
thissurvey. Criterion D may apply, however, to propertiesthat are also eligible under Criterion Cin
that the distinctive characteristics that make them eligible may also have information value.

Each of the propertiesthat wereinventoried for this phase of the survey has been evaluated
for itseligibility for the National Register of Historic Placesusing the criterialisted above. In most
cases, the properties’ significance is mostly on the local level, that is, for the role they played in
Northborough’s history or for their architectural qualities in comparison with other examplesin
town, but a few were judged to also have significance on the state level as well. Following isa
summary of the recommendations as detailed on the National Register of Historic Places Criteria
Statement Forms that accompany the inventory forms.

NATIONAL REGISTER RECOMMENDATIONS: DISTRICTS

Woodside Mills Historic District. A potential historic district was identified that would
include as contributing components the Woodside Mills (NBO.266) at 200 Hudson Street and the
buildings within three areas of former mill houses:

Allen Court Mill Houses (NBO.N)
Allen Street Mill Houses (NBO.O)
Hudson Street Mill Houses (NBO.Q)

As noted below, the Woodside Mills complex has local historical significance because of its
associations with a major theme in the town’s economic development, textile manufacturing
(Criterion A). The former mill houses, both individually and as groups, probably do not meet the
threshold for National Register eligibility because of the extent of modern alterations. They would,
however, collectively enhance a listing for a Woodside Mills Historic District. One defining
characteristic of 19™-century New England textile millsisthat, al most without exception, they were
accompanied by adjacent areas of multi-family housesfor mill operatives. These areas, evenif the
houses have been modified over time, help indicate the scal e of operations of thetextilemill and the
effect it had on its community. (Ideally, the Woodside Mills district would have also included the
mansion of the proprietor, David F. Wood, but this building was lost to fire many years ago). In
addition to housing the mill’s workers, one of the buildings (2-4 Allen Court, NBO.224) aso
accommodated a store. The Woodside area, including the mill and groups of mill houses, was
previously designated Historic AreaNBO.F in the MHS database.

School Street — Summer Street Historic District (NBO.R). A potential historic district
was identified east, west, and south of the intersection of School and Summer streets. This
assemblage of turn-of-the-century houses represents an unusual concentration, for Northborough, of
well-preserved houses from aparticular period. Whilefew of the houses are completely original in
their appearance, taken as a whol e the assemblage preserves arich variety of Victorian vernacular
elements. peak ornaments, wood shingles in various patterns, bay windows, brackets, and
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decorative porch el ements such asturned posts, Tuscan columns, and varioustypesof railings. Most
houses exhibit theirregularity of form that was part of the Victorian architectural aesthetic, creating
asymmetry by means of bay windows, cross-gablewings, cut-away first-story corners, and porches.
As such, the district embodies the distinctive characteristics of atype and period of construction
(Criterion C).

The potential district also haslocal historical significance asamiddle-class neighborhood of
mostly single-family homes that recalls Northborough's early 20th-century identity as a small
commercial and industrial center (Criterion A). The owner-occupants of these houses were
proprietors of small businesses, white-collar workers, and the skilled members of theworking class.
In addition to contributing to the economic prosperity of the town, many were activein community
organizations, musical groups, and home-front activities during World War |, and not afew served
their neighbors in local political offices. Many were from long-standing Northborough Y ankee
families, but others were immigrants from Canada, Ireland, and Germany, reflecting the town’s
growing ethnic diversity in the early years of the 20th century.

Meetinghouse Common Historic District. Phase | of the survey identified the existing
Meeting House Common Local Historic District as eligible for the National Register and
recommended expanding its boundaries to include additional properties. The following buildings
identified in this phase of the survey should be considered for inclusion as contributing buildingsin
any Meeting House Common National Register district:

Unitarian Parsonage (NBO.239), 33 Church Street

Walter & Lucy Paul House (NBO.240), 39 Church Street
Walter & Lottie Bigelow House (NBO.70), 64 Church Street
Eliab Wood House (NBO.72), 76 Church Street

Francis & Mary Atwood House (NBO.241), 86 Church Street
Duplisse House (NBO.73), 87 Church Street

Wilder Bush Barn (NBO.79), 25 Whitney Street

Wilder Bush House (NBO.80), 27-29 Whitney Street

Main Street Historic District. Phase | of the survey identified Main Street (Route 20)
between 4 West Main Street and 110 Main Street asapotentially National Register-eligible historic
district. The following buildings identified in this phase of the survey should be considered for
inclusion as contributing buildings in such a district:

Old Barn Shop (NBO.236), 11 Blake Street

C. Brigham & Co. Store (NBO.237), 19 Blake Street
Northborough High School (NBO.274), 63 Main Street

E. H. Smith Bone & Grain Mill, 88 Main Street

Rev. Samuel S. Ashley House, 100 Main Street

Charles A. Rice House (NBO.83), 4 Patty Lane (12) Main Street)
Northboro Hardware (NBO.312), 17 South Street
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NATIONAL REGISTER RECOMMENDATIONS: STRUCTURES

Cold Harbor Brook Railroad Bridge (NBO.923) and Assabet River Railroad Bridge
(NBO.924). These two mid-19"-century stone arches recall the importance of the railroad in
Northborough’s commercial and industrial development (Criterion A) and stand as relatively
unaltered examples of stone-arch bridge construction, a vernacular technology widely used for
bridges of moderate span and of sufficient importanceto warrant the extraexpenditure of fundsover
wooden bridges (Criterion C). They may also be associated with a nationally prominent railroad
contractor, George W. Phelps (1820-1899).

The Church Street Stone-Slab Bridge (NBO.921) could not be evaluated for its National
Register eligibility because there is insufficient information on the number, distribution, and
comparative integrity of this type of bridge.

NATIONAL REGISTER RECOMMENDATIONS: BUILDINGS

Vera Green House (NBO.251), 333 Howard Street. This 1953 house is a virtually
untouched example of the wave of Frank Lloyd Wright-inspired houses that hit American in the
post- World War |1 period (Criterion C). Moreor lessresembling Wright’s*Usonian” designsor his
larger commissions such as “Fallingwater,” these houses were characterized by an overall
horizontality, flat or low-pitched roofs, expansive area of glass, free-form open plans, and the use of
“natural” materials such as stained wood, brick, stone, or textured concrete blocks. An important
aspect of the type, clearly exhibited by this house, is a close relationship of the house and its
surroundings, arelationship mediated by the glasswallsthat bring the outdoorsinside. Designed by
Worcester architect Doak Martin (1917-1998), the house may have significance onthe statelevel as
well.

Woodside Mills (NBO.266), 200 Hudson Street. The Woodside Millshavelocal historical
significance because of the building’'s associations with a major theme in the town’s economic
development, textile manufacturing (Criterion A). In atown in which most industrial enterprises
were of the small-shop type, the textile mills stood out for employing as many as 100 workers and,
in two cases, for leading to the creation of villages surrounding the mills. This mill, dating from
1888 and enlarged during the prosperous years of the World War | period, isthetown’ s preeminent
heritage resourceillustrating thistheme. The Chapinville mill existsonly asan archaeological site,
and the Farwell Comb Factory, which operated for atime as a shoddy mill, is both later in origin
(1900) and in amore highly-altered condition. A secondary area of significanceisthe building’s
embodiment of the key elements of late 19th-century industrial architecture. As noted above, the
mill could be the centerpiece of aWoodside Mills Historic District that includes both the mill and
three areas of former mill houses, but it also stands as an individually €ligible building.

Northborough High School (NBO.97), 63 Main Street. The former Northborough High
School has local historical significance in the educational history of Northborough; for three
decades, the building served asthe community’ s high school and then ajunior high school (Criterion
A); it represents the community’s response to growing enrollments, higher state standards for
ancillary facilities such as gymnasiums, libraries, and science laboratories. The building also has
local historical significance asthe community’ smost visible reminder of the public-works programs
of the 1930s (Criterion A). Finally, the building is significant because it embodies many of the
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characteristics of early 20th-century school architecture (Criterion C).

“The Cliffs,” Daniel B. Wesson House (NBO.168), 167 Main Street. This large and
elaborate Queen Anne-style mansion was not among the recommendations for National Register
listing in the first phase of the survey, which cited alterations such as the enclosure of its porches.
The consultant for this phase of the survey would recommend reconsideration. Even with
alterations, the Wesson mansion stands as the most elaborate house in Northborough from the
Victorian period (Criterion C), an excellent example of the asymmetry of form introduced as part of
the Queen Anne style. Other defining characteristics of the style abundantly evident in the house
include richly detailed chimneys and variegated exterior materials, including wood shinglesin an
impressive range of patterns. The house aso has historical significance because of its associations
with Daniel B. Wesson (1825-1906). As an inventor, Wesson played a major role in the
development of the American firearms industry, and his factory in Springfield was a major
M assachusetts manufacturer (Criterion A).

Thisphase of the survey identified three additional nearby buildingsformerly associated with
the Wesson estate:  “The Cliffs” Cottage (NBO.278), 154 Main Street; “The Cliffs”
Superintendent’s Residence (NBO.279), 13 Maple Street; and “The Cliffs” Employees Residence
(NBO.280), 25-27 Maple Street. Itisrecommended that “ The Cliffs,” including themansion and the
three other buildings, be collectively considered for National Register listing.

LOCAL HISTORIC DISTRICT RECOMMENDATIONS:

Local Historic Districts are established by communities under a state enabling statute (MGL Ch.
40C) with the purpose of protecting the distinctive characteristics of important areas and
encouraging new structural designs that are compatible with the area’s historic setting. Local
Historic Districts in Northborough are administered by the Northborough Historical Commission.
Many of the same characteristics that make an area a candidate for listing as a National Register
district also makeit an appropriate Local Historic District. Theexpanded Meetinghouse Common
Historic District and Main Street Historic District recommended in the Phase | should consider
the inclusion of the properties inventoried in this phase, as noted above under National Register
recommendations. In addition, the School Street — Summer Street Historic District is a strong
candidate for consideration as a Local Historic District because of the richness of surviving
architectural elements, exactly thetype of physical characteristicsintended for protection under the
enabling legidation.

Some localities, noting that the definition of district includes the possibility of a single
building, have designated individual buildings for protection under the Local Historic District
process. The Phase | of this survey recommended that the Northborough Historical Commission
consider such an approach, given the scattered distribution of the town’ s historic resources among
much more modern residential and commercia development. The following individual properties
are well-preserved examples of particular type, styles, and period of construction that would be
appropriate for such adesignation:
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Walter & Lottie Bigelow House (NBO.70), 64 Church Street

Ezra H. Bigelow House (NBO.71), 70 Church Street

Eliab Wood House (NBO.72), 76 Church Street

Vera Green House (NBO.251), 333 Howard Street

Woodside Mills (NBO.266), 200 Hudson Street

Charles C. Murray House (NBO.250), 110 Howard Street
Northborough High School (NBO.274), 63 Main Street

“The Cliffs” Cottage (NBO. 278), 154 Main Street

“The Cliffs” Superintendent’s Residence (NBO. 279), 13 Maple Street
“The Cliffs” Employees Residence (NBO. 280), 25-27 Maple Street
John & Esther Allen House (NBO. 286), 31 Pleasant Street

Curtis H. Burdett House (NBO.289), 87 Pleasant Street

George Barnes House (NBO.315), 120 South Street

Edwin Corey House (NBO.327), 220 Whitney Street

Corey Family House (NBO.328), 234 Whitney Street
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V. FURTHER STUDY RECOMMENDATIONS

The first phase of the Northborough inventory concentrated on the Main Street areain the
center of town and pre-1860 properties townwide, though some outstanding post-1860 properties
were aso inventoried, such as the Walter Farwell House (NBO.161), 114 Hudson Street, and the
Daniel Wesson House (NBO.168), 167 Main Street. This second phase filled in some pre-1860
properties, comprehensively covered propertiesfrom 1860 to about 1906, and included anumber of
later 20™-century properties at the request of the Northborough Historical Commission. Intermsof
comprehensive survey, it appearsthat only the period from 1906 to 1960 remains unsurveyed. From
the field-checking that was undertaken as part of this survey, it can be estimated that fewer than 50
later 20"-century properties would need to be inventoried in order to provide a full picture of
Northborough’ s historic resources. Specifically:

" Hip-roofed houses of the “Foursquare” type, many of which have Colonia Revival
detailing, dating from the 1910s and 1920s. One of these was identified as part of the
River Street Neighborhood (37 River Street, NBO.300), and several otherswere observed
on School Street near its intersection with Summer Street.

" Craftsman or Bungal ow-type houses, such as the exceptionally well-preserved one at 37
School Street.

" Colonia Revival and Tudor-style houses from the 1930s.

Northborough has an exceptional number of Techbuilt™ prefabricated houses, a type
developed by architect Carl Koch (1912-1998) of Belmont, Massachusetts. Koch was a student of
Walter Gropiusat Harvard, and his designsreflected both the International Style modernism taught
at that institution and the “organic” principles of Frank Lloyd Wright. The Techbuilt system was
developed in 1953 and over 3,000 were sold in the United States before 1963. Many of
Northborough’s Techbuilt houses are late examples dating from the 1970s, but it would be
worthwhile to seeif there are any earlier examples of thisiconic suburban form.

The Phase | included arecommendation for collective consideration of thetown’sfarmland
and agricultural buildings. To that should be added consideration of portionsof certain town roads
for Scenic Road designation under Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 40, Section 15C. Such a
designation would provide recognition and help preservetreesand stonewalls. It wasnot withinthe
scope of thissurvey to inventory potential candidatesfor Scenic Road designation, but Green Street
north of Church Street appeared to deserve consideration.

It is not recommended that any of the 19" and early 20™-century properties that were
identified asthird-priority (those graded a“C”) beincluded in any futureinventory effortsexceptin
the case of 1) some exceptional historical association that has not been previously considered, or 2)
reversal of the loss of integrity through credible restoration efforts.
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